Power Laws in the Stock Market

A Thesis Presented to The Established Interdisciplinary Committee for Mathematics and Economics Reed College

> In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Bachelor of Arts

> > Daniela Morar

May 2009

Approved for the Committee (Mathematics and Economics)

David Perkinson

Kimberly Clausing

## Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my math adviser Dave Perkinson for having introduced me to the fascinating world of sandpiles. I am also grateful for all the help with programming and also for the constant support. I would also like to thank my economics adviser Kim Clausing for suggestions and guidance, Jeff Parker and Albyn Jones for all the insightful comments.

I would like to thank my friends HJ, Maru, Upa and Vero for keeping me sane and for being such good friends for the past 4 years! I am also grateful to Shreya, Sakib, Ramon, Dominic and Polia. I would also like to thank Alok for all his support, his love and constant encouragement and also for putting up with all the thesis-induced stress.

Last, but not least, I would also like to thank my parents:

Vreau să le mulțumesc părinților mei pentru că au fost alaturi de mine în tot acest timp și m-au sprijinit de la distanță. Vă iubesc și mi-e dor de voi!

## **Table of Contents**

Introd	uction
Chapt 1.1 1.2 1.3	er 1: Basic Concepts of the Financial Market       3         Financial Assets       3         Measures of Price-Changes       4         The Efficient Market Hypothesis and the Random Walk Model       6
Chapt	er 2: Self-organized Criticality, The Sandpile Model and Power
Lav	78
2.1	What Is Self-Organized Criticality?    9
2.2	The BTW Sandpile Model
2.3	Power Law Distributions
2.4	Mathematical Framework of Power Laws
2.5	A Brief History of Power Laws
Chapt	er 3: Herding Behavior
3.1	What Does Herding Behavior Refer to?
3.2	Three Important Models
	3.2.1 Bak-Paczuski-Shubik Model
	3.2.2 Cont-Bouchaud Model
	3.2.3 Stauffer-Sornette Model
Chapt	er 4: An Information Transmission Model
4.1	Power-law Behavior
4.2	The Connection between Power Laws and Information
4.3	Brief Introduction to Graph Theory
4.4	Dhar's Abelian Sandpile Model
4.5	The Model
	4.5.1 The Market
	4.5.2 Transmission of Information
	4.5.3 Decision Rules $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 30$
Chapt	er 5: The Experiment
5.1	Goal
5.2	The BTW model

5.3	The Circular Network	41
	5.3.1 Undirected Circular Network	41
	5.3.2 Directed Circular Network	45
	5.3.3 Changing the Degree of Connectivity to the Sink	48
5.4	Random Networks	50
5.5	Network with a Special Node	64
5.6	Network with Clusters	78
5.7	Random Regular Network	98
	5.7.1 How is the 4-regular Graph Different from a Grid Graph?	101
Conclusion		
Appen	dix A: Important Definitions and Theorems	109
Bibliog	graphy	113

# List of Figures

5.1	The $4 \times 4$ grid graph with a sink attached to the vertices on the borders.	35
5.2	The distribution of avalanche sizes on a $10\times10$ grid graph for different	
	runs	37
5.3	The distribution of avalanche areas and lifetimes on a $10\times10$ grid for	
	10,000 runs	38
5.4	The histograms of avalanche sizes, areas and lifetimes on a $10\times10~{\rm grid}$	
	for 10,000 runs	39
5.5	Fitted values for the sizes of avalanches.	41
5.6	The graph of a circular network with 10 vertices connected to the sink.	42
5.7	The distribution of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on an undi-	
	rected circular graph	43
5.8	The histograms of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on an undi-	
	rected circular graph	44
5.9	The distribution of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on a di-	
	rected circular graph compared to the one on an undirected circular	10
	graph on a log-log scale.	46
5.10	The histograms of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on a directed	4 🗁
<b>-</b>	circular graph.	47
5.11	Fitted values for the avalanche sizes for the undirected and directed	477
F 10		41
5.12	The distribution of avalanche sizes, areas and lifetimes on a circular graph (directed and undirected) with different weights of the circle (a)	
	graph (directed and undirected) with directed weights of the sink $(w)$	40
5 1 2	Bandom graphs on 5 vortices with different specifications	49 51
5.13	The distribution of euclanche sizes on a random graph for $n = 1$ (prob	51
0.14	ability that edges occur) and $w$ (maximum for random weight of edges)	52
5 15	The histograms of avalanche sizes on a random graph for $n = 1$ (prob	52
0.10	ability that edges occur) and $w$ (maximum for random weight of edges)	53
5 16	The distribution of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different	00
0.10	values of p (probability that edges occur) and $w = 1$ (maximum for	
	random weight of edges).	54
5.17	The histograms of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different	
	values of p (probability that edges occur) and $w = 1$ (maximum for	
	random weight of edges)	55

5.18	The distribution of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of $p = 1$ (probability that edges occur) and $w$ (maximum for	
5 10	random weight of edges)	56
5.19	values of $p = 1$ (probability that edges occur) and w (maximum for	
	random weight of edges)	57
5.20	The distribution of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of $p$ (probability that edges occur) and $w = 1$ (maximum for	
	random weight of edges)	58
5.21	The histograms of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of $p$ (probability that edges occur) and $w = 1$ (maximum for random weight of edges)	50
5.22	The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for $p = 1$	03
	(probability that edges occur) and different values for $w$ (maximum for	
	random weight of edges)	60
5.23	The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for $p = 1$ (probability that edges occur) and different values for $w$ (maximum	
	for random weight of edges)	61
5.24	The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different	
	values of p (probability that edges occur) and $w = 1$ (maximum for	co
5 25	The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different	62
0.20	values of p (probability that edges occur) and $w = 1$ (maximum for	
	random weight of edges)	63
5.26	The random graph with a special vertex with $p = 0.3$ (probability that edges occur), $r = 0.3$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and $q = 0.5$ (probability of sink connect	
	tion)	64
5.27	The distribution of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values $q$ (probability of sink connection), $p = 0.1$ (probability that edges occur) and $r = 0.1$ (probability of connection between the special	
	vertex and the other vertices)	66
5.28	The histograms of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different	
	values q (probability of sink connection), $p = 0.1$ (probability that	
	edges occur) and $r = 0.1$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices).	67
5.29	The distribution of avalanche areas on a random graph for different	
	values q (probability of sink connection), $p = 0.1$ (probability that	
	edges occur) and $r = 0.1$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices)	68
5.30	The histograms of avalanche areas on a random graph for different	00
	values q (probability of sink connection), $p = 0.1$ (probability that	
	edges occur) and $r = 0.1$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices)	60
	$vertex and the other vertices). \dots \dots$	09

5.31	The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values $q$ (probability of sink connection), $p = 0.1$ (probability that edges occur) and $r = 0.1$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices).	70
5.32	The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values $q$ (probability of sink connection), $p = 0.1$ (probability that edges occur) and $r = 0.1$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices)	71
5.33	The distribution of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values of $p$ (probability that edges occur), $r$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and $q = 0.1$ (probability of sink connection).	72
5.34	The histograms of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values of $p$ (probability that edges occur), $r$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and $q = 0.1$ (probability of sink connection)	70
5.35	The distribution of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of $p$ (probability that edges occur), $r$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and $q = 0.1$ (probability of sink connection)	73
5.36	The histograms of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of $p$ (probability that edges occur), $r$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and $q = 0.1$ (probability of sink connection)	74
5.37	The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values of $p$ (probability that edges occur), $r$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and $q = 0.1$ (probability of sink connection).	76
5.38	The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values of $p$ (probability that edges occur), $r$ (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and $q = 0.1$ (probability of sink connection).	77
5.39	The clustered graph with two clusters consisting of 3 vertices each and probability of sink connection $p = 0.1$ .	78
5.40	The distribution of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink connection).	80
5.41	The histograms of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink connection).	81
5.42	The distribution of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink con-	00
	nection)	82

5.43	The histograms of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink connection).	83
5.44	The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink connection)	84
5.45	The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink connection)	85
5.46	The distribution of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink con-	96
5.47	The histograms of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of $n$ (probability of sink connection)	87
5.48	The distribution of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink connection).	88
5.49	The histograms of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of $p$ (probability of sink con-	00
5.50	nection)	89
5.51	connection)	90
5.52	The distribution of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with one cluster of 30 vertices and another of 70 vertices for different values of $p$	91
5.53	(probability of sink connection)	92
5.54	(probability of sink connection)	93
5.55	(probability of sink connection). $\dots \dots \dots$	94
5.56	(probability of sink connection)	95
5.57	p (probability of sink connection)	96
	p (probability of sink connection)	97

5.58	The random regular graph of degree 4 on 6 vertices with the sink	
	denoted as vertex 0	98
5.59	The distribution of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on random	
	regular graph of degrees 4, 10 and 50 on a log-log scale	100
5.60	The distribution of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on 4-random	
	regular graph compares to the one for a grid graph on a log-log scale.	102

### Abstract

The purpose of this thesis is to assess the possibility of the existence of a powerlaw behavior in the stock market. First, it presents recent research that challenges standard finance theory. Second, it shows how herding behavior in the stock market could lead to great volatility. Finally, it develops a model that attempts to explain the herding behavior based on transmission of information in the stock market. This model is an agent-based artificial model based on the sandpile model developed by Bak, Tang, and Wiesenfeld in 1987. It relies on the assumption that communication networks can be represented by graphs with edges and vertices, where each vertex is a trader and an edge denotes the connection between two traders. Experiments using this model show that information sharing is highly dependent on the degree of connectivity among the traders, the rate of information being lost, and the traders' willingness to share information. For some of the networks considered, the distribution of information transmission was found to behave like a power-law.

### Introduction

Recent research has challenged standard finance theory, and proposed other ways of analyzing the stock market. Physicists have proposed that the stock market behaves like a self-organized critical system, which can be defined as a system where the relationship between cause and effect is not linear. Bak, Tang, and Wiesenfeld (1987) were the first ones to introduce the concept of self-organized criticality to explain the behavior of their sandpile model. Soon afterwards this theory was used to justify the complexity of natural systems, including the stock market. One of the important features of a self-organized critical system is that it exhibits a power-law behavior, and thus the search for self-organization was replaced by the search for power laws. A series of power laws were found to describe the behavior of stock market returns, trading volume, and herding behavior of traders.

The high volatility in the stock market was explained by the informational events leading to herding behavior. Therefore, the way information is transmitted and network of traders are of extreme importance for analyzing stock market returns.

In this thesis, I investigate the possibility that the stock market behaves as a selforganized critical system that follows a power-law behavior. The organization of this thesis is as follows. The first chapter provides an overview of the standard finance theory and its implications. Chapter 2 describes the theory behind self-organized critical systems, the sandpile model and power laws. Chapter 3 analyzes the phenomenon in the stock market referred to as herding behavior. Three main models of herding behavior are briefly discussed in this chapter. A model of information transmission, strongly related to herding behavior is proposed in Chapter 4 and experiments based on this model are conducted in Chapter 5. The conclusion summarizes the main findings of Chapter 5 and suggests possible directions for future research.

### Chapter 1

# Basic Concepts of the Financial Market

The stock market has been the center of numerous studies since the beginning of the twentieth century. The majority of these studies have concentrated on one of the most basic characteristics of the stock market—the distribution of the returns.<sup>1</sup> Over the last few years new studies have been challenging the standard finance theory and offering new perspectives on the dynamics of the stock market. It is necessary to be familiar with the standard financial theory in order to understand the implications of these new theories. The following two sections explain the basic terminology of the stock market.

#### 1.1 Financial Assets

A financial asset is an asset that has a certain value because of a legal claim to a future cash flow. Examples of financial assets include stocks, bonds, bank deposits, and so on. Financial assets are commonly classified as debt or equity instruments:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Section 2 will provide different formulas for calculating these returns.

- Debt instruments include government bonds or bills, corporate bonds, mortgages, and bank loans. The holder of the debt claim has two sources of cash flow: the original value of the claim and an interest on the loan (both received at the end of the contract).
- 2. The most well-known form of equity instruments is company shares. The holder has three sources of cash flow: dividend payment, capital gain (when the share is sold above its purchase price) and a portion of the value of the institution issuing the shares (when the institution is sold or placed in liquidation). Nevertheless, none of these is guaranteed.

#### **1.2** Measures of Price-Changes

The value of a financial asset is the current value of the total expected future cash flow from that asset. Finding the best function of the price for performing statistical tests is frequently a problem. There are different measures of price-changes, each one having its advantages and disadvantages and the most common are the following:<sup>2</sup>

1. Linear price-change:

$$\Delta x[t, t - \Delta t] = x[t] - x[t - \Delta t] \tag{1.1}$$

The advantage of this approach is that it is linear. The disadvantage is that changes in the time scale have a big impact on this formula.

2. Discounted or de-trended price-change:

$$\Delta x^{(F)}[t, t - \Delta t] = F[t]x[t] - F[t - \Delta t]x[t - \Delta t]$$
(1.2)

 $<sup>{}^{2}</sup>x[t]$  denotes the price of a financial asset at time t

The advantage of this approach is that it does not involve nonlinear transformations and that the factor F[t] attempts to remove the effects of inflation or deterministic biases. The disadvantage is that there is no unique choice for F[t].

#### 3. Return:

$$R[t, t - \Delta t] = \frac{\Delta x[t, t - \Delta t]}{x[t - \Delta t]} = \frac{x[t] - x[t, t - \Delta t]}{x[t - \Delta t]}$$
(1.3)

The advantage of this approach is that it provides a direct percentage of gain or loss for a given period of time. The disadvantage is that the returns are sensitive to scale changes in the long run when they increase or decrease substantially.

4. Log-return:

$$z[t, t - \Delta t] = \log \frac{x[t]}{x[t - \Delta t]} = \log x[t] - \log x[t - \Delta t]$$
(1.4)

The advantage of this approach is that it accounts for scale changes. One disadvantage is that it introduces a nonlinear transformation, which could affect the statistical properties of a stochastic process.

It can be easily shown that the indicators of price-changes defined above are approximately equal for high-frequency financial data. For analysis of data over longer time periods, the most commonly used measures of price-changes are returns and log-returns.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The remaining of this thesis uses the term "return" in order to refer to the logarithmic returns.

## 1.3 The Efficient Market Hypothesis and the Random Walk Model

Efficient Market Hypothesis (EMH) is the most important assumption in the financial market concerning stock prices. Formulated by Eugene Fama in 1970, the EMH assumes that at any given time a stock price fully reflects all available information about that particular stock.

This will occur when transactions costs are non-existent, all investors have access to the current information, and all investors agree on the implications of the available information. Depending on the content of the information available to investors, there are three forms of EMH:<sup>4</sup>

- 1. *The weak form*: it asserts that current prices reflect all information available from historical data.
- 2. *The semi-strong form*: it asserts that current prices reflect all publicly available information.
- 3. *The strong form*: it asserts that current prices reflect all currently known information (both private and public).

The weak form of the EMH implies that current changes in price are independent of past changes in price. This means that price-changes in the stock market can be compared to outcomes of a coin toss, since it is impossible to forecast its result based on past outcomes. In order to describe this behavior of financial time series, Bachelier proposed the random walk model in 1900 (see Davis and Etheridge, 2006).<sup>5</sup> This model makes three important claims, which are summarized below:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See Malkiel, 1989.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>For a mathematical model, see Appendix A.

- 1. The conditional expectation of the next observation, given all the past observations, is equal to the last observation;
- 2. The next observation is independent of past observations;
- 3. All changes, taken together from small to large, follow a normal distribution.

Though these three claims are the main assumptions of standard finance theory, evidence shows that they fail to hold in practice. Many studies have shown that pricechanges in the stock market follow a distribution that exhibits excess kurtosis, with heavier tails than in a normal distribution (Mauboussin, 2002; Mantegna and Stanley, 1995; Pagan, 1996; Lux, 2006).<sup>6</sup> This finding contradicts the Central Limit Theorem, which states that the sum of random independent and identically distributed variables with finite mean and variance will asymptotically converge to a normal distribution.<sup>7</sup> Therefore, the assumption that price changes in the stock market are independent and identically distributed is also questionable.

Although independence of price-changes is consistent with theoretical arguments that exclude "free lunches" in the stock market (Fama, 1970), data analysis shows that the price-changes in the stock market may not be independent. While independent variables are always uncorrelated, it is not true that uncorrelated variables are always independent. Mandelbrot and Hudson (2004) offer a good explanation of this paradox:

The key to this paradox lies in the distinction between the size and the direction of price changes. Suppose that the direction is uncorrelated with the past: The fact that prices fell yesterday does not make them more likely to fall today. It remains possible for the absolute changes to be dependent: A 10 percent fall yesterday may well increase the odds of another 10 percent mode today—but provide no advance way of telling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The definition of kurtosis can be found in Appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The mathematical formulation of the Central Limit Theorem can also be found in Appendix A.

whether it will be up or down. If so, the correlation vanishes, in spite of strong dependence. Large price changes tend to be followed by more large changes, positive or negative. Small changes tend to be followed by more small changes. Volatility clusters.

Moreover, studies have showed that the random walk hypothesis is not supported by data. Craig MacKinlay, John Y. Campbell, and Andrew W. Lo (1997) reached the conclusion that "financial asset returns are predictable to some degree" since they incorporate a long-term memory component. They also conclude that "free lunch plans are ruled out" although there is a chance of getting a "free lunch" from time to time.

Another important assumption made by the EMH makes is the rationality of traders. According to Fama (1965), a market that is considered to be efficient is defined as "a market where there are large numbers of rational, profit-maximizers [i.e. the traders] actively competing with each trying to predict future market values of individual securities." This view is now being challenged by a emerging area of research known as behavioral finance. This new field supposed the non-rationality of traders, and studies the way in which individuals make decisions that deviate from perfect rational behavior predicted by the EMH.

All this suggests that the EMH needs to be replaced with a new theoretical framework that can explain the real market in a better way. According to recent research, one of the main reasons why the standard finance theory does not hold in the real market is because it assumes that, in the equilibrium state, the effects of a shock are proportional to its size. Therefore, small shocks would never have dramatic consequences, and large fluctuations are very unlikely to occur—since they would be triggered by catastrophic events which are not very frequent.

### Chapter 2

# Self-organized Criticality, The Sandpile Model and Power Laws

### 2.1 What Is Self-Organized Criticality?

A new theory that tries to account for the high volatility of the stock market argues that the stock market can be regarded as a complex dynamic system, as described by Wang and Hui (2001):

Financial markets are typical complex systems in which the large-scale dynamical properties are dependent on the evolution of a large number of nonlinear-coupled systems.

A direct function of the interactions among the agents in a complex system is called self-organized criticality. Although a rigorous definition of Self-Organized Criticality (SOC) does not exist, we are familiar with some of its characteristics. One important chactacteristic is that the relationship between cause and effect in these systems might not be linear. Applied to the field of economics, this theory suggests that changes in interest rates and taxes are only triggering factors in stock market crashes, and not the fundamental causes. The existence of a speculative bubble could take the economy into an unstable phase in which the stock market price has reached an unsustainable pace. This unstable phase, which can be triggered by any small disturbance or process, facilitates the emergence of a crash. This way, the combined behavior of traders could gradually lead to increases in the stock market prices and eventually a crash.

#### 2.2 The BTW Sandpile Model

Bak, Tang, and Wiesenfeld (1987) were the first to introduce the concept of SOC in order to explain the behavior of their sandpile model. The dynamics of this model are very simple. We start with a two-dimensional  $n \times n$  lattice, with each site of the lattice having a certain amount of sand, denoted h(x, y).<sup>1</sup> A grain of sand is dropped at a random vertex (x, y) such that  $h(x, y) \to h(x, y) + 1$ . A site fires when the number of grains accumulated at a specific site exceeds a certain threshold value:  $h(x, y) \ge h_c$ , where  $h_c$  denotes the threshold value at vertex (x, y), and the vertex (x, y) loses four grains of sand:  $h(x, y) \to h(x, y) - 4$  which are redistributed to the adjacent sites:  $h(x \pm 1, y) \to h(x \pm 1, y) + 1$  and  $h(x, y \pm 1) \to h(x, y \pm 1) + 1$ . Vertices on the edge of the lattice also lose four grains, spilling some off the edge, i.e. spilling some into the sink. An avalanche is the consecutive firing of many vertices. Avalanches are caused by a domino effect, in which a single grain of sand can cause one or more vertices to fire. An important characteristic of this model is that the accumulation of small grains could cause large avalanches, so searching for the cause of a big event could be very difficult.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A Java applet that simulates the dynamics of the BTW sandpile model can be found at http://www.cmth.bnl.gov/~maslov/Sandpile.htm

### 2.3 Power Law Distributions

#### 2.4 Mathematical Framework of Power Laws

**Definition 2.4.1.** A non-negative random variable X is said to have a power law behavior if there exist constants  $\alpha > 0$  and c > 0 such that the probability density p(x) follows:<sup>2</sup>

$$p(x) \sim \frac{c}{x^{\alpha}}$$

for  $x \to \infty$  with  $\alpha$  being the exponent.

Taking the logarithm on both sides shows that the formula above asymptotically approaches a straight line:

 $\log(p(x)) \sim \log c - \alpha \log x.$ 

#### 2.5 A Brief History of Power Laws

A key characteristic of SOC discovered by Bak, Tang, and Wiesenfeld (1987) is a power law distribution (also called heavy-tail distribution, Pareto distribution, Zipfian distribution, etc.) for the size and lifetime of avalanches in their sandpile model.<sup>3</sup> Power law distributions were also found in a lot of different areas, like the population in cities all over the world, frequencies of words in literature, the strength of earthquakes, the wealth of individuals, the size of companies, the spread of forest fires, and the extinction of biological species.

The first power law distribution discovered in the field of economics dates back to the nineteenth century when the Italian economist Vilfredo Pareto studied the allocation of wealth among individuals. His study showed that around 80% of the society's wealth was controlled by 20% of the population, contrary to what we would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Adapted from Gabaix et al. (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For a history of power law distributions, see Mitzenmacher, 2004

have expected from a normal distribution. Many years later, Benoit Mandelbrot (1963) studied the variation of cotton prices from month to month over several years and concluded that the tails of this distribution followed a Pareto distribution with the exponent close to 1.7. The research done afterwards on wheat prices, interest rates and railroad stocks led to the speculation of a universal scale-free law involving the prices of different commodities.<sup>4</sup>

The possibility of this universal power-law concerning the tails of the distribution of short-term stock market returns interested many economists and physicists, being crucial for developing risk management methods.<sup>5</sup> Recent research (Gopikrishnan et al., 1998; Plerou et al., 1999) shows that the tails of the cumulative return distribution of the price of individual stocks and market indices follow a power law distribution, with the exponent approximately equal to 3-a property called "the inverse cubic law".<sup>6</sup> This behavior was found not only in developed countries, but also in some developing countries like China (Gu, Chen and Zhou, 2008), India (Pan and Sinha, 2008), Korea (Kim et al., 2005) and Mexico (Coronel-Brizio et al., 2005). This latter discovery is quite surprising, taking into account that emerging markets are subject to severe macroeconomic instabilities, and hence, are not expected to follow the same market dynamics as the more developed countries do. Other studies show that markets might indeed exhibit a power law behavior in the tails, however the exponent was not necessarily equal to 3, but between 2 and 4 (Pagan, 1996; Longin, 1996; Guillaume et al., 1997). A few models were developed in order to explain the emergence of power law distributions in the stock market returns, one of which is the dynamic multi-agent model based on herding behavior.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The scale-free behavior refers to the fact that, as shown in the previous section, a power law distribution has the property that the probability density function in a log-log plot is a straight line. <sup>5</sup>Short-term refers to a time interval between one minute and a few days.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Actually, the fact that the tails of the distribution of individual stocks obey a power law decay would immediately result in the market indices also obeying a power law since these market indices reflect the aggregate value of many individual stocks and also because most of the prices of stocks that are part of the same index tend to move together.

The ubiquity of this power law is indeed questionable, and there are other hypothesis concerning the tails of the distribution of stock market returns, including the exponential distribution (Matia et al., 2004; Dragulescu and Yakovenko, 2002; Oh, Um and Kim, 2006; Kaizoji and Kaizoji, 2003; Silva et al., 2004) and the stretched exponential distribution (Laherrere and Sornette, 1998; Gu et al., 2008). The problem with these discoveries is that the exponentially decaying tails are indicative of the presence of a scale—hence the universal scale-free behavior of stock markets would fail miserably. Moreover, the exponential function exhibits thinner tails, and thus, there would be less extreme price fluctuations than the ones predicted by a power law. A recent study by Malevergne, Pisarenko, and Sornette (2005) concluded that the tails decay slower than any stretched exponential distribution, but faster than any power law distribution.

Kaizoji (2005) investigated the returns in the Japanese stock market and concluded that they display a different shape in the periods of stagnation than in the periods of boom. He discovered that during booms, the tails are characterized by a power law with exponent 3, while during stagnations, the tails are characterized by an exponential distribution with the scale parameter close to 1. Furthermore, he explained this behavior by modeling the stock market as a system consisting of interactions among traders.

Although initial research focused only on returns, power laws have also been found to characterize the number of shares traded and the number of trades in the stock market.<sup>7</sup> Gopikrishnan et al. (2000) find that high-frequency data from the US stock market exhibit the following characteristics:

- 1. The trading volume (V), which denotes the number of shares traded, is characterized by the following behavior:  $P[V > x] \sim x^{-1.5}$
- 2. The number of trades (N) also follows a power law:  $P[N > x] \sim x^{-3.4}$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Note that these two quantities are closely related.

The fact that so many components of the stock market follow a power law could indicate a common underlying mechanism that defines the dynamics in the stock market. One important factor that could connect stock market returns with the number of trades and the volume of trades is information. The following chapters consider the stock market as a communication network where traders interact with each other, and where information is valuable and strongly correlated with returns. Some models of interaction among traders are considered in Chapter 3 and a new model of information is developed in Chapter 4.

### Chapter 3

### Herding Behavior

#### 3.1 What Does Herding Behavior Refer to?

Although different models have been created in order to explain the existence of fat tails in stock market returns, most of them are not based on any market phenomenon that would generate this data. In order to relate the high volatility of the stock market to the psychology of traders, a new area of research was needed—behavioral finance. This new field, briefly mentioned in Chapter 1, gives a new perspective on the way investors make decisions. Shiller (2000) argues that large fluctuations of prices could be the cause of herding behavior among traders. He believes that herding behavior in the stock market during booms and crashes does not necessarily imply irrationality on the side of the traders, since even rational people could take into account the beliefs of other people. One explanation he gives for herding behavior is that people who are in touch with each other often think in the same way. This could be possible when people are reacting to the same information at the same time. Another cause for herding behavior is the possibility of conflicting ideas coexisting inside a person's mind, in which case people might be acting contrary to their beliefs. Shiller points out that the existence of contradictory beliefs could be the effect of experts having previously endorsed both points of view.

Following Shiller's observations, the literature on herding behavior has developed a lot over recent years in a multitude of domains. Parker and Prechter (2005) divide the theoretical approaches in different categories, according to the different fields it has been applied to: social psychology, informational theory, econophysics, medicine and socio-economics. Two well-known models of herding behavior dealing with the informational theory of herding were proposed by Banerjee (1992) and Bikhchandani, Hirshleifer and Welch (1992). Both of these models assume that each individual makes a decision by taking into account their private knowledge and the decisions of the individuals preceding them. The sequential character of herding from these models is a serious disadvantage: the natural way of ordering agents, through which each one only imitates the actions of preceding traders, does not correspond to reality.

Another preoccupation of researchers has been trying to connect herding behavior to the existence of power laws. One of the first models to attempt this was the Bak, Paczuski and Shubik model (1996). Although the p.d.f. of the returns exhibits excessive kurtosis, the model does not necessarily imply the existence of power laws. Cont and Bouchaud (2000) solve the problem of the sequential character of herding behavior, and develop a model in which the formation of clusters is taking place due to the formation of random connections between traders. They also show that the distribution of clusters follows a power law.<sup>1</sup>

Recent research has been dedicated to econophysics models, which are based on catastrophe theory and self-organized criticality, and are very similar to informational theory models—the only difference being that they model the dynamics of bubbles endogenously. Before talking about these econophysics models, some knowledge about informational theory models is required.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>More details on the last two models are given in the following section.

### 3.2 Three Important Models

#### 3.2.1 Bak-Paczuski-Shubik Model

Bak, Paczuski and Shubik (1996) developed a model based on the interactions among two types of traders (fundamentalist and noise) in order to account for the large variations in stock market prices. The fundamentalist traders are agents who optimize their own utility functions by making a fundamental analysis of the stocks. Noise traders study market dynamics and rely on noise rather than information. A common belief about noise investors is that they follow trends, overreact to news and have poor timing.

The interactions between the agents in this model are defined by the following framework:

- There is only one type of stock. Each agent can own 0 or 1 shares. The share provides the owner a dividend at a specific interval of time. This dividend pays A with probability  $\rho$  and pays B with probability  $(1 \rho)$ .
- All agents have enough money to buy a share and the money they are left with after the transaction is held in an account bearing an interest rate *i*.
- There are N K noise traders, K traditional traders and N/2 shares available for the traders to buy. Thus, half of the traders are potential buyers and the other half potential sellers.
- Each potential buyer (an agent with 0 shares) makes a bid at a certain price denoted  $p_b$  and each potential seller (agent with 1 share) offers his share at a certain price denoted  $p_s$ . At each step, a trader is chosen randomly to be the one who performs a market operation. The agent will update his price according to his strategy.

Following these rules, a transaction takes place when an overlap occurs between buyer and seller: the trader sells his share to the highest bidder or buys the share from the lowest seller. This way, the buyer becomes a potential seller and the seller becomes a potential buyer, i.e. each of them change their prices. The strategy used for changing their prices depends on the type of trader the agent is. If the agent is a traditionalist (also called rational) trader, then he will assess the fundamental value of the company and then choose to buy or sell depending on the interest rate he is offered, and his utility function which takes the form:

$$U = \nu \min[A, B] + (1 - \nu)(\rho A + (1 - \rho)B), \tag{3.1}$$

where  $\nu$  represents each agent's risk preference and it is a value between 1 (in which case we are dealing with extreme risk aversion) and 0 (the case of risk neutrality). Therefore, the rational agent will make a decision to buy a stock if  $\frac{U}{p_s} > i + \Delta_1$  and will decide to sell a stock if  $\frac{U}{p_b} < i + \Delta_2$ . Here, the parameters  $\Delta_1$  and  $\Delta_2$  represent the decision stickiness. On the other hand, if the agent is a noise trader, he will ignore the dividends and the fundamentals and instead examine market trends and the behavior of other traders. There are three strategies that the noise trader could use in order to set a new price:

- 1. Choose it at random;
- 2. Make a guess of the market price and bid towards it;
- 3. Pick another agent at random and copy his price.

Furthermore, Bak, Paczuski and Shubik perform some computer stimulations of the model and they arrive at several conclusions. First of all, they take two extreme cases, where there is only one type of trader—either rational or noise. In the first case when there are only rational traders in the market  $(N = K \neq 0)$ , the market stabilizes after some time and no further trade occurs. In the second case with only noise traders (K = 0 and  $N \neq 0$ ), the price changes are dramatic and several small effects of fat tails of return distribution appear.

A third possibility is the one with both types of agents trading in the market, with noise traders imitating other traders chosen at random. Because of the randomness of their imitation, the noise traders could imitate either other noise traders, or rational traders, since they are unaware of which type of trader one has chosen to imitate. Numerical simulations of these models show that when 2% of the traders are rational traders, they would be driven out of the market and the noise traders left in the market would imitate each other. In the end, this herding behavior will bring about unreasonably high prices in the market ("bubble"). Another stimulation shows that with 20% of rational traders in the market only small deviations of the prices occur.

Although this model simulates real market conditions in a faithful manner by exhibiting a fat-tailed behavior of returns, it is complex and it contains too many components that are hard to trace.

#### 3.2.2 Cont-Bouchaud Model

Cont and Bouchaud (2000) investigated the influence of herding behavior on the existence of heavy tails in the distribution of returns. They considered a model of determining price largely used in econophysics. The model consists of N agents trading in a single asset. The demand for stock of an agent i is represented by  $\phi_i$  and it could take the values +1, -1 and 0, depending on the agent's intentions. Thus, the demand for stock will take the value +1 if the agent wants to buy a stock, -1 if he is wants to sell a stock and 0 if he does not want to trade. In equilibrium, the sum of all the  $\phi_i$  variables will have to add to zero. Outside of equilibrium, the price adjustment process is given by the following formula:

$$\Delta x = x(t+1) - x(t) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \phi_i(t), \qquad (3.2)$$

where  $\lambda$  is a factor measuring the liquidity in the market and is defined to be "the excess demand needed to move the price by one unit." If  $\phi_i$  is an i.i.d. random variable, we could apply the Central Limit Theorem for N large enough and  $\Delta x$  would have an approximated Gaussian distribution. Empirical evidence discussed in Chapter 1 tells us that this is not true. Moreover, if the demands of investors are not i.i.d. variables then heavy-tails could exist in the return distribution.

The Cont-Bouchaud model further assumes that agents are grouped into clusters and that investors from the same cluster take the same market decision. The demand equation is rewritten as:

$$\Delta x = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{k} W_{\lambda} \phi_{\lambda}(t), \qquad (3.3)$$

where k is the number of clusters,  $W_{\alpha}$  is the size of a cluster  $\alpha$  and  $\phi_{\alpha}$  is the demand of the agents belonging to the same cluster  $\alpha$  (the same for all agents in the cluster).

Since the distribution of the change in prices depends on the size of each cluster, the formation of coalitions among agents plays an important role. For a pair of agents *i* and *j*, Cont and Bouchaud denote *p* to be the probability that the agents are part of the same cluster.<sup>2</sup> On average, an agent will be linked to (N - 1)p other agents. Furthermore, taking c = N \* p to be the average number of friends makes (N - 1)/phave a finite limit. Therefore the distribution of cluster sizes, determined by the parameter *c*, eventually determines the distribution of returns.

The authors conclude that for c close but smaller than 1, the cluster size has a p.d.f. that in the limit of large W is cut off by an exponential tail and looks like:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Since all links are equally probable, the choice of p is independent of the choice of i and j.
$$p(W) \sim W^{-5/2} \exp\left(\frac{(1-c)W}{W_0}\right)$$
 (3.4)

In the case that c = 1, the tail of the distribution is a power-law in the limit of large W and is given by the following formula:

$$p(W) \sim W^{-5/2}$$
 (3.5)

One important finding is that the return distribution can have an arbitrary large kurtosis provided c is close to 1. In this case, one agent will be linked with another agent, and a finite fraction of the market will be part of the same cluster, which could lead to a crash. Also, the state where c converges to 1 is leading to scaling-laws and heavy tails since the clusters become increasingly larger.

Although this model accounts for many phenomena encountered in the real market, there are some aspects that it does not account for. The critiques of this model argue that it is hard to know exactly how traders exchange information and also that c is not easy to estimate. Another problem is the fact that the links between traders might change over time.

#### Percolation Theory

Percolation theory refers to the study of the connectivity of networks. In the case of a two dimensional square lattice, the percolation theory studies the degree of connectivity among its sites. The percolation threshold is defined to be the average connectivity between the sites of the lattice. Its value is between 0 and 1, with 0 when all the sites are isolated from each other and 1 when all the sites are connected to the maximum number of neighbors possible.

If we take p to represent the average connectivity among sites, then the percolation threshold is the minimum value of the parameter—denoted  $p_c$ —at which there exists a connected path that connects the top and the bottom of the lattice. For the simple two-dimensional lattice chosen, the percolation threshold is  $p_c = 0.593.^3$ 

The Cont-Bouchaud model is structured on the basis of the percolation theory on a random graph of size N in which the aggregations of traders are modeled as clusters (defined as neighboring sites that are occupied) and the links among traders are the connections between different vertices of the graph.

#### 3.2.3 Stauffer-Sornette Model

Following the Cont-Bouchaud model, Stauffer and Sornette (1999) introduce a percolation model to describe herding behavior in the stock market.<sup>4</sup> Their model attempts to improve the Cont-Bouchaud model by defining the parameter p—denoting the connectivity among traders—as a random value. This parameter is essentially measuring the degree of herding behavior existent in the system: as the value of p gets bigger, herding behavior becomes stronger. Cont and Bouchaud (2000) consider this parameter fixed at the percolation threshold, but in reality the number of connections among traders could change over time.

The authors consider a square matrix on which the traders represent the sites of the matrix and are distributed with degree of connectivity p, varying at random at each time step from 1 to 59. The latter percentage corresponds to the critical value  $p_c = 0.593$  for a square lattice. When p reaches the value 0.593—its critical value—a stock market crash emerges and afterwards the parameter p is reinitialized to a lower value. For each value of p, one percent of the traders move to a random neighboring site, and this procedure is iterated 1000 times. Similar to the Cont-Bouchaud model, this model offers three possibilities for each cluster in each time interval: buy, sell or decide not to trade. The probability that a cluster sells a stock is considered to be a,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This value is very important in the Stauffer-Sornette model discussed in the following section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Although the Cont and Bouchaud paper was published in 2000, its first draft was ready in 1997, which made possible for Stauffer and Sornette to read it.

which is also the probability that a cluster chooses to buy a stock. This parameter is taken to be ranging between 0 and 0.5. For each cluster taken separately, the decisions to buy or sell are aggregated and the total number of simulations is averaged to give smooth results. The results show that the distribution of returns exhibits a power law with exponent 2.5, slightly different from the exponent 4 observed in previous research.

In order to get a higher degree of accuracy, Sornette and Stauffer take a different approach. The fact that the parameter a was considered to be a free parameter could be a problem since research shows that important investors (such as mutual funds and retirements funds) tend to trade less than smaller investors. Moreover, the decision to buy or sell are also contingent upon the number of traders that form a cluster, since the decision is reached only when the majority agrees. Therefore, the parameter a is taken to be dependent on the cluster size as follows:  $a = \frac{0.5}{\sqrt{s}}$ , where s represents the cluster size which is proportional to the amount traded. With these new activity parameter, the distribution of returns is found to follow a power law with an exponent around 3.5, much closer to the expected exponent of 4.

Consequently, the three models of herding behavior considered in this chapter seem to be indicating a power law behavior related to the phenomenon of herding. Since herding behavior is strongly related to sharing information, an information transmission model is developed in the Chapter 4. This model is expected to follow a power law behavior under certain circumstances to be determined in the Chapter 5.

# Chapter 4

# An Information Transmission Model

# 4.1 Power-law Behavior

As seen in the previous chapters, a system possessing a power-law behavior consists of a very large number of parts with a very limited influence and a very small number of parts that dominate. Moreover, such a system exhibits scale invariance since the smaller components of the system have the same characteristics as larger ones. Given the general formula of a power-law,  $f(x) = cx^{\alpha}$ , scale invariance can be derived by scaling the variable x by a constant factor:

$$f(kx) = k(cx)^{\alpha} = c^{\alpha}f(x).$$

$$(4.1)$$

This way, we can see that f(kx) can be obtained by multiplying f(x) by a constant, which is the reason why we expect a straight line when the logarithm is taken on both sides of the previous equation.

# 4.2 The Connection between Power Laws and Information

Since herding behavior is strongly connected to information transmission, one question that needs to be asked is whether or not there is any connection between information and power-law behavior. Large events can be set off by the flow of information between people, without any initial large shock. According to Srinivasa (2006), the configuration of the information network plays an important role and the more densely connected the network is, the faster the propagation of information. Moreover, each individual inside the network has his own threshold for adopting a new idea. This threshold together with the degree of connectivity among people could cause the informational cascades, similar to the avalanches in the sandpile model.

In order to understand how the network of traders is established, some graph theory is required.<sup>1</sup>

# 4.3 Brief Introduction to Graph Theory

**Definition 4.3.1.** A graph is a pair G = (V, E) with the elements of V being the vertices and the elements of E being the edges, each edge defined as a set of two vertices.

**Definition 4.3.2.** A path is a non-empty graph P = (V, E) of the form

 $V = \{x_0, x_1, \dots, x_k\} \qquad E = \{x_0 x_1, x_1 x_2, \dots, x_{k-1} x_k\},\$ 

where the  $x_i$  are all distinct.

**Definition 4.3.3.** Two vertices x, y of G are neighbors if there is an edge connecting them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Adapted from Diestel (2005).

**Definition 4.3.4.** The degree of a vertex v is the number of edges at v, and it is equal to the number of neighbors of v.

**Definition 4.3.5.** A graph with all the vertices of the same degree is called regular. A regular graph of degree d is referred to as a d-regular graph.

**Definition 4.3.6.** A directed graph is a pair (V, E) of vertices and edges together with two maps  $init : E \to V$  and  $ter : E \to V$  assigning to every edge e an initial vertex init(e) and a terminal vertex ter(e). The edge e is said to be directed from init(e) to ter(e).

**Remark 4.3.7.** A directed graph might have several edges between the same two vertices x and y and are called multiple edges. If these multiple edges have the same direction, they are parallel. If init(e) = ter(e), the edge is called a loop.

**Definition 4.3.8.** Each vertex of a directed graph has an in-degree and an outdegree. The in-degree of a vertex v corresponds to the number of edges with v as a terminal vertex. The out-degree of a vertex is the number of edges for which v is a initial vertex.

**Definition 4.3.9.** A graph or directed graph in which multiple edges are allowed is sometimes called a multigraph.

**Definition 4.3.10.** A weighted edge of a graph is an edge e with a corresponding weight, which is a natural number denoted w(e) interpreted as the number of multiple edges between the two vertices that correspond to that edge. A weighted graph is a graph whose edges are weighted.

### 4.4 Dhar's Abelian Sandpile Model

Dhar (1990) developed a model based on the BTW model discussed in Chapter 2. The model is defined on a directed multigraph G with edges weighted by non-negative integers, where each vertex has an out-degree and an in-degree as defined in the previous section. The sink is the special vertex for which the out-degree is zero, assuming that there is a path from each vertex to the sink.<sup>2</sup> A configuration c on the graph G is defined to be the assignation of a natural number to each vertex, corresponding to a certain number of grains of sand. The amount of sand on each vertex c is denoted c(v). A vertex is unstable if the number of grains of sand at that vertex is greater or equal to the out-degree of the vertex:

$$c(v) \ge out\_deg(v) \tag{4.2}$$

Each unstable vertex fires (or topples) and it sends one grain of sand to each of its neighboring vertices to which there are outgoing edges so that in the end  $out\_deg(v)$  grains of sand are sent.<sup>3</sup> A sequence of firings is called an avalanche. Any configuration can become stable after a series of avalanches.

### 4.5 The Model

The model developed is very similar to the one developed by Lee (1998) and is described in the following subsections.

#### 4.5.1 The Market

The model considered attempts to simulate the communication network of traders in the stock market in the period following an informational cascade. This informational cascade refers to a situation in which a trader ignores his private information and decides to imitate the other traders. As suggested by Lee (1998), an important cause of this behavior is the high transaction costs that prevent traders from sharing their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Thus, it does not have any outgoing edges.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that the sink will never fire.

private information when they trade in a sequential fashion. In order to facilitate the simulation of this model, it is assumed that transaction costs stay the same throughout the trading periods.

The fact that stock prices in this market have increased a lot in the previous periods causes the traders to question their previous investment decisions. Hidden information starts building up as traders start regretting their decisions and one small shock could be enough to create the reverse of an informational avalanche—called an informational cascade, a situation in which people can no longer disregard their private information and start acting according to it (i.e. sell or buy stocks). Since the market considered in this model is one in which prices are artificially high due to aggregation of information failure, we assume that all the private information in this market leads to selling stocks.

An important observation to be made is that the dynamics of an informational cascade can be easily simulated by the sandpile model in which the network of traders is represented by a graph where the vertices are individual traders and the edges are the links between them. The main difference from the model developed by Lee (1998) is that this model also has a sink, characteristic to be explained in the next subsection.

#### 4.5.2 Transmission of Information

This model's information dynamics are described by the grains of sand that move from one vertex to another or that are dropped at random vertices. The grains of sand dropped at random represent either the news that a trader receives from outside the network of traders or just increased willingness to share private information that could start an informational cascade. Another way in which a trader could receive a piece of information is in the case his neighbor has decided to sell a stock based on his private information. This decision is incorporated by the firing of that specific vertex which is followed by grains of sand being sent to the neighbors. Therefore, receiving a grain of sand from a neighbor corresponds to receiving a piece of information about selling. We also consider that all traders hold either the same stock or stocks whose prices are correlated with each other, so that each piece of information is relevant. In order to make a decision, each trader takes into account his private information and also the signals received from his neighbors. For simplicity, we consider all pieces of information to be the same. Moreover, the fact that a trader might have previosly received a piece of information does not make him immune to receiving the same piece of information again.

The initial sand configuration represents the private information that each trader initially has. Once a trader has shared a piece of information, he is waiting to receive new pieces of information, as the old ones lose their importance. After a trader has shared his piece of information with his neighbors (i.e. after that vertex fires), there are no grains of sand in that vertex, suggesting that some private information about selling no longer exists until more grains are accumulated. The firing of a vertex here is considered to be equivalent to sharing the private information which is equivalent to selling of stocks. This model is attempting to simulate only the flow of information in the market and is not concerned with the stock prices, although they are the underlying reasons that determine traders to transmit information.

#### 4.5.3 Decision Rules

The decision that the traders in the market can take is to either sell a stock (which also implies sending a signal to its neighbors) or to wait for a limited period of time before selling. Sharing a piece of information about selling a stock corresponds to the firing of a vertex while waiting is just the period of time it takes a vertex to fire while it is accumulating grains of sand. Each trader corresponding to a vertex vcan influence a neighboring trader corresponding to a vertex v' if the following two conditions hold: v = init(e) and v' = ter(e). The fact that some traders can be more influential than others is taken into account by the degree of connectivity between vertices. Thus, since information flows along an edge e from init(e) to ter(e), the out-degree of vertex init(e) determines how influential that trader is for the trader denoted by vertex ter(e). In the case that a vertex is connected to the sink, the degree of connectivity between that vertex and the sink represents two important aspects of the market:

- 1. There is some degree of stickiness associated with the decision rule that a trader makes based on transaction costs. A piece of information (corresponding to a single grain of sand) that an agent receives will just increase his willingness to sell as more grains of sand gather at the vertex but this will not necessarily determine an immediate firing of the vertex. A vertex will only fire immediately after receiving a piece of information if it is in its maximal stable state so that the amount of sand found at that vertex is equal to  $out\_deg - 1$ . Furthermore, the higher the degree of connectivity of that vertex to the sink, the higher its out-degree and the more grains of sand needed for that vertex to topple.
- 2. Since the grains of sand sent to the sink are lost forever, the degree of connectivity to the sink also account for the loss of information while it gets transmitted from trader to trader. This could happen because the information loses its importance (since it becomes incorporated in the new stock price) and/or because old information gets obsolete as new information becomes available. In the real market only the unimportant information is lost, but this model treats all the pieces of information in the same way.

# Chapter 5

# The Experiment

A modified version of professor David Perkinson's SAGE program for doing calculations in Dhar's abelian sandpile model was used for the simulations.<sup>1</sup> We start with the maximal stable configuration which is that configuration with  $out\_deg(v) - 1$ grains of sand at each vertex v. The benefit of starting out with this configuration is that adding a grain of sand at a random vertex will make that vertex unstable right away. This implies that the system is in an unstable state and that a single grain of sand dropped from outside the system causes an avalanche. Each unstable vertex has to fire at some point in time. An important remark is that each unstable configuration reaches a stable one in a finite number of time steps as long as each vertex has a path to the sink. <sup>2</sup> Therefore, we could always count the number of vertices that fired, corresponding to the number of traders who decided to share their private information.

As Sornette (2003) noted, there are three ways we could measure the strength of an avalanche:

- 1. Size: the total number of firings;
- 2. Area: the total number of vertices that fired;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The code can be found at http://people.reed.edu/ $\sim$ davidp/412/sage-sandpiles/sandpile.sage. <sup>2</sup>For a detailed proof of this fact, see Dhar (1990).

3. Lifetime: the duration of the avalanche, where each time step is represented by the firing of all the unstable vertices. Thus, the duration counts the number of time steps it takes the system to stabilize.

In our model, the size of an avalanche denotes the number of times the investors received a piece of information from other investors, the area denotes how many traders received the piece of information and the lifetime of an avalanche represents the severity of the information cascade and the length of time it takes for it to stabilize.

# 5.1 Goal

The goal of this experiment is to analyze the distribution of the strength of the avalanches obtained after running different versions of the experiments based on the model described above. Each experiment consists in plotting the area, size and life-time of avalanches on a log-log scale using different types of networks. A power law behavior is expected to be present, at least in some of the experiments. The main question to be asked is—under what circumstances do the measurements of the strength of an avalanche follow a power law?. Therefore, the experiments in the next sections determine the type of communication network that is required in order to obtain a scale-invariant behavior.

# 5.2 The BTW model

We replicate the experiment that Bak, Tang and Wiesenfeld (1987) conducted using the sandpile model. Based on the results of the authors, a power law is expected to characterize the behavior of the sizes of the avalanches. In addition to the size of the avalanches, the area and lifetime are also calculated.

We start the experiment by considering an  $n \times n$  undirected graph with each

vertex on the boundary connected to the sink. All the non-sink vertices have degree 4, and so the corner vertices are connected to the sink by an edge of weight 2, while the other vertices on the boundary are connected to the sink by an edge of weight 1. An example of a  $4 \times 4$  grid is shown in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1: The  $4 \times 4$  grid graph with a sink attached to the vertices on the borders.

The experiment goes as following:

- 1. Set the initial sand configuration to the maximal stable configuration;
- 2. Drop a grain of sand at a random vertex;
- 3. Stabilize the system and record the size, area and lifetime of the avalanche;<sup>3</sup>
- 4. Run the experiment m times every time starting from the previously stable configuration obtained;
- 5. Graph the frequency distribution of the sizes, areas and lifetimes of the avalanches on a log-log scale and test whether or not they follow a power-law behavior.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that dropping a grain of sand on a random configuration does not necessarily start an avalanche unless the vertex on which the grain of sand was dropped is unstable. In our experiment, we ignore all these cases and we regard them as the waiting time between avalanches.

A  $10 \times 10$  grid graph was chosen in order to conduct the experiments described above.<sup>4</sup> The experiments measuring the size of the avalanches were run 5000, 10000, 50000 and 100000 times so that we could observe the behavior of the avalanches over different runs. The log-log graphs of size of the avalanches versus the probability of obtaining a size of a certain magnitude for the different runs are shown in Figure 5.2.

The areas and lifetimes of avalanches were also computed for the  $10 \times 10$  grid graph for 10,000 runs only. Since all the experiments contain the same number of runs, we replace the probability of obtaining a value of a certain size with the number of times a value of that size was obtained. Figure 5.3 shows the log-log graphs of the distribution of avalanche areas and lifetimes for 10,000 runs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This grid has 100 non-sink vertices plus one sink vertex.



Figure 5.2: The distribution of avalanche sizes on a  $10\times 10$  grid graph for different runs.



Figure 5.3: The distribution of avalanche areas and lifetimes on a  $10 \times 10$  grid for 10,000 runs.

One important observation is that fitting a straight line to any of the graphs obtained above does not work. Although the graphs seem to scale as a power law over a finite region, they are decaying exponentially for large values of the parameters (area, size or lifetime). The reason why this is happening is that the distributions in the previous figures cannot scale as the power laws in the limit  $x \to \infty$  since an avalanche has a maximum size/area/lifetime each time the experiment is run. Another reason is the fact that the percentage of vertices connected to the sink decreases as the size of the grid increases, so that in a bigger grid there is a higher probability of getting bigger avalanches.<sup>5</sup>

Carlson and Swindle (1995) solved the problem of the exponential decay by allowing the distribution of avalanches in the BTW model to be defined by a power law with an exponential cutoff rather than by a "pure" power law. The power law exponential cutoff follows the following behavior:

 $p(x) \sim cx^{-\alpha}e^{-\lambda}.$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This observation is just a hypothesis and needs further investigation. We know that an  $n \times n$  grid would consist of 4n - 4 vertices connected to the sink, and so when n increases, the ratio  $\frac{4n-4}{n^2}$  decreases, but the magnitude of decrease is very small compared to the increase in the size of the grid.



Figure 5.4: The histograms of avalanche sizes, areas and lifetimes on a  $10\times10$  grid for 10,000 runs.

In order to determine the equation that best fitted the data, we run regressions using the logarithm of number of avalanches as the independent variable and using different powers of the size of avalanches and the logarithm of size of avalanches as dependent variables. One problem encountered when examining the data was the strong multicollinearity among the dependent variables. Although multicollinearity does not have any impact on the forecast of the regressions, we solve this problem in order to understand how various independent variables impact the dependent variable. Therefore, we center the dependent variables by replacing each variable with the difference between it and its mean. The equation that was found to fit the best is the following:<sup>6</sup>

 $Log(Number of Avalanches) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 * Size + \beta_2 * Size^2 + \beta_3 * Log(Size) + \beta_4 * Log(Size)^2$ 

This formula suggests that the cutoff obtained for the actual data is bigger than the one for a power-law with exponential cutoff distribution. The graph and the fitted curve are showed in Figure 5.5.

The histograms for the sizes, areas and lifetimes of avalanches are shown in Figure 5.4. They show a SOC behavior with fewer big avalanches and also fewer avalanches of longer duration.

In order to examine the dependence of information transmission on the type of the network of traders, different graphs were considered. The remaining experiments were conducted on graphs having 100 non-sink vertices and one sink vertex and each experiment was run 10,000 times.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The values of the coefficients obtained in the regression are not reported since we are mainly interested just in the equation in general and not on these values.



Figure 5.5: Fitted values for the sizes of avalanches.

### 5.3 The Circular Network

A circular network is defined to be a graph with each vertex connected to exactly three other vertices: the sink and two non-sink vertices. Depending on the edges between the nodes, a circular graph could either be undirected (shown in Figure 5.6(a)) or directed (shown in Figure 5.6(b)).

#### 5.3.1 Undirected Circular Network

An undirected circular graph implies a network where each trader—represented by a vertex v—can only be influenced by its two neighbors who are also the only sources of information the trader has. Repeating the same experiment as the one done for the grid graph, we get the graphs and histograms in Figures 5.7 and 5.8 shown below. In order to create the histograms for the circular networks, the first avalanche was ignored for obtaining a better scaling (since this was the only very big avalanche).

This experiment suggests that the areas and sizes for an undirected circular net-



Figure 5.6: The graph of a circular network with 10 vertices connected to the sink.

work are approximately equal and that very few vertices fire twice during the same avalanche. Moreover, the lifetimes of avalanches in this case were a lot smaller than the ones obtained for the grid graph. This suggests that the undirected circular network is very inefficient in transmission information from one vertex to another, since each person is only connected to two other people.



Figure 5.7: The distribution of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on an undirected circular graph.



Figure 5.8: The histograms of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on an undirected circular graph.

#### 5.3.2 Directed Circular Network

Compared to an undirected circular network, a directed network implies that each trader is only influenced by one person and can influence one person only. Moreover, the strength of the avalanche (see Figures 5.9 and 5.10) appears to depend on the degree of connectivity to the sink. This type of network simulates the case where information is transmitted in a chain manner, and where each trader gets his information from only one person. Although not a very realistic assumption, it helps establish under which circumstances a power law would emerge in a model of information transmission. We expect this network to be even less efficient in transmitting information than the undirected circular network.

We compare the sizes, areas and durations of the avalanches in the directed circular network with those in the undirected one (see Figure 5.9) and we conclude that there are no significant differences between the areas and sizes of avalanches of directed and undirected circular graphs with initial degree of connectivity to the sink of 1. This is the case since all the vertices have the same out-degree and in-degree and they all behave in a similar manner. Therefore, changing the orientation of some edges would just change the direction of the information flow and not the intensity of the avalanche. Nevertheless, the lifetimes of avalanches are slightly longer in the directed network than on the undirected one. This suggests that it takes longer to transmit information between vertices in the directed circular network.

One important observation is that the distribution of avalanche sizes, areas and lifetimes on a log-log scale appears to be a straight line for the circular undirected and directed networks with degree of connectivity to the sink w = 1. We found that the fitted curves for the avalanche sizes for these graphs follow the same formula as the avalanche sizes for the grid in the previous section. The fitted curves are shown in Figure 5.11.



Figure 5.9: The distribution of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on a directed circular graph compared to the one on an undirected circular graph on a log-log scale.



Figure 5.10: The histograms of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on a directed circular graph.



Figure 5.11: Fitted values for the avalanche sizes for the undirected and directed circular networks.

#### 5.3.3 Changing the Degree of Connectivity to the Sink

Since each vertex in the circular network is connected to only two other vertices and the sink, the degree of connectivity to the sink should be very important. Some experiments were done in which we changed the degree of connectivity to the sink from the initial value w = 1 to 5 and respectively 10. Different weights of the sink represent different degrees of information stickiness, a person's unwillingness to share information right away after receiving it. We conclude that, as w gets bigger, the size (and implicitly the area) and the lifetime of avalanches will decrease, as shown in Figure 5.12. This occurs since each vertex takes longer to fire as it retains each grain of sand for a longer period of time. Moreover, when taking high values of w, there were very few small avalanches. This implies that, as traders take longer time to pass on information, the market becomes more stable and the probability of an avalanche emerging decreases. We did not try to test whether the distribution on a log-log plot follows a straight line because of the limited number of observations.



Figure 5.12: The distribution of avalanche sizes, areas and lifetimes on a circular graph (directed and undirected) with different weights of the sink (w) on a log-log scale.

The following experiments examine more types of networks that could exhibit a power-law behavior for the strengths of the avalanches. Since we do not get any power-law behavior in the following experiments, we concentrate on effects of changes in the avalanches dynamics in the networks due to changes in different parameters of the graphs. Although the analysis is based on the histograms of the avalanche strengths, the log-log plots of the distribution of these strengths are also included to show the departure from the power-law behavior.

### 5.4 Random Networks

Another network considered is the random network in which traders form connections with other traders at random and each connection has a "weight", representing the degree of influence traders have on other traders. This simulation considered a directed random graph with 100 vertices (plus sink) with a probability p that edges are formed between any two vertices and a maximum value for random edge weights denoted w. The actual weight of an edge e is a random number between 1 and w(e)defined above. Two random graphs on 5 vertices with different specifications for pand w are shown in Figure 5.13.

Figures 5.14, 5.16, 5.18 and 5.20 show the distribution of avalanche sizes and areas for random graphs with different parameters p and w. The graph with p = 1 is a complete undirected graph with 101 vertices since every pair of distinct vertices is connected by an edge. This complete network corresponds to the case when every trader in the market is connected to all of the other traders. This way, the entire network could be considered a giant cluster. The histograms of sizes and areas of avalanches (Figures 5.15, 5.17, 5.19 and 5.21) suggest that for the case when both p = 1 and w = 1, most of the sizes and areas are close to either 0 or 100 since all of the vertices have the same degree of connectivity with each other and thus, they



Figure 5.13: Random graphs on 5 vertices with different specifications.

either all fire at once, or not fire at all. As we vary the range for the weight of edges (w) while keeping p = 1, we can see more variability for the areas and sizes. This also happens as we keep w = 1 but we vary the probability of edge connection (p).

One important characteristic of this network is the duration of avalanches. Figures 5.22 and 5.24 show that the power law behavior is not present anymore and that the lifetime of avalanches seem to be highly dependent on the parameters p and w. As we allow the weight of the edges to vary on a bigger range, there are also more chances of getting a higher weight. This higher weight would correspond to a longer "waiting time" (since it would take longer time for each vertex to fire). Moreover, upon the firing of a vertex a larger quantity of sand is lost so that the avalanches get shorter. This phenomenon is observed in the graphs of Figures 5.22 and 5.23 in which the avalanche duration is shown for the case when p = 1 and different values of w. The differences in the avalanche durations as w gets significantly bigger are almost negligible because of the random nature of w.

Since the weight assigned to each edge is a random positive number with an upper bound, we do not actually know anything about w unless we set it equal to 1. In this case, the weight of each edge is equal to 1, since the only random integer between 1 and 1 is 1. The avalanche lifetimes for the case when w = 1 and p varies are shown in Figures 5.24 and 5.25 and suggest that the duration of an avalanche is increasing by a lot as p decreases. This happens since a lower probability of edge connection implies fewer edges between vertices and thus the grains of sand would not reach too many vertices. Moreover, the duration of avalanches increases substantially as p decreases (from less than 10 to values that are above 100) for the same reason. The big difference between the case when p = w = 1 and all the other cases denotes the possibility of this being a critical state when traders are connected to all other traders and information flows freely between them. This rapid flow of information would causes sudden, large avalanches that can be compared to crashes in the stock market.



Figure 5.14: The distribution of avalanche sizes on a random graph for p = 1 (probability that edges occur) and w (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.15: The histograms of avalanche sizes on a random graph for p = 1 (probability that edges occur) and w (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.16: The distribution of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur) and w = 1 (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.17: The histograms of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur) and w = 1 (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.18: The distribution of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of p = 1 (probability that edges occur) and w (maximum for random weight of edges).


Figure 5.19: The histograms of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of p = 1 (probability that edges occur) and w (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.20: The distribution of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur) and w = 1 (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.21: The histograms of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur) and w = 1 (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.22: The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for p = 1 (probability that edges occur) and different values for w (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.23: The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for p = 1 (probability that edges occur) and different values for w (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.24: The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur) and w = 1 (maximum for random weight of edges).



Figure 5.25: The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur) and w = 1 (maximum for random weight of edges).

## 5.5 Network with a Special Node

We consider a random graph with 99 normal vertices, a special vertex and a sink attached. This graphs is defined by the parameters p, q and r, where p represents the probability that a pair of normal vertices are connected, q represents the probability that the normal vertices are connected to the sink and r is the probability that the special vertex is connected to a normal vertex, making sure that it is connected to at least one vertex. Also, the special vertex has in-degree 0, so that it cannot be influenced by any other vertex. An example of a random graph with a special vertex is shown in Figure 5.26 in which the special vertex is labeled "special". This network tests the importance of having a vertex that has a different influence on the other vertices, most probably a bigger influence. This would be the case of a trader with a big influence on the population of traders. One problem with this experiment is that the random grain of sand that initiates the avalanches is dropped at random, and thus, we cannot analyze the influence of the special vertex in a very accurate way.



Figure 5.26: The random graph with a special vertex with p = 0.3 (probability that edges occur), r = 0.3 (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and q = 0.5 (probability of sink connection).

In all of the experiments using this network we keep the connectivity to the sink constant at q = 0.1. At first, we examine the strength of avalanches while varying the probability that the special vertex is connected to a normal vertex. Thus, we conclude that the sizes and areas of avalanches (see Figures 5.27, 5.28, 5.29 and 5.30) are very close to either 0 or 100. This happens because of the very small connectivity of vertices. There are also very few changes in the sizes and areas as r varies since the only time this matters is when the random grain of sand is dropped at the special vertex. Figures 5.31 and 5.32 suggest that the durations of the avalanches in this case are very small, with very few big ones.

In the case that p = r, the special vertex can be treated as a normal vertex (except for the fact that its out-degree is 0) and we get similar results for the areas and sizes of avalanches a in the previous case (see Figures 5.33, 5.34, 5.35 and 5.36). The duration of avalanches is again very small (smaller than 50 in general), with few large ones. As p and r get small, there is a very big avalanche which takes place when the grain of sand is dropped at a vertex that forms part of a cluster.<sup>7</sup>

The following network investigates further the transmission of information in a graph with clusters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Since there the probability of an edge between two vertices I very small, clusters are being formed.



Figure 5.27: The distribution of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values q (probability of sink connection), p = 0.1 (probability that edges occur) and r = 0.1 (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices).



Figure 5.28: The histograms of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values q (probability of sink connection), p = 0.1 (probability that edges occur) and r = 0.1 (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices).



Figure 5.29: The distribution of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values q (probability of sink connection), p = 0.1 (probability that edges occur) and r = 0.1 (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices).



Figure 5.30: The histograms of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values q (probability of sink connection), p = 0.1 (probability that edges occur) and r = 0.1 (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices).



Figure 5.31: The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values q (probability of sink connection), p = 0.1 (probability that edges occur) and r = 0.1 (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices).



Figure 5.32: The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values q (probability of sink connection), p = 0.1 (probability that edges occur) and r = 0.1 (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices).



Figure 5.33: The distribution of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur), r (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and q = 0.1 (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.34: The histograms of avalanche sizes on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur), r (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and q = 0.1 (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.35: The distribution of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur), r (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and q = 0.1 (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.36: The histograms of avalanche areas on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur), r (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and q = 0.1 (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.37: The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur), r (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and q = 0.1 (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.38: The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a random graph for different values of p (probability that edges occur), r (probability of connection between the special vertex and the other vertices) and q = 0.1 (probability of sink connection).

## 5.6 Network with Clusters

According to Srinivasa (2006), random graphs are not the best way of modeling a communication network since they assume that the probability of a person being connected to a friend is the same as being connected to a person from a different country. Furthermore, he suggests that a better approximation of information network would be a clustered graph consisting of different clusters occasionally connected among each other. This way, we constructed a graph with a total of 100 vertices formed by taking m different complete graphs connected by an edge at random. Each vertex of these complete graphs has probability p of being connected to the sink. Also, the graph is constructed in such a way that at least one vertex in each cluster is attached to the sink. Figure in 5.39.



Figure 5.39: The clustered graph with two clusters consisting of 3 vertices each and probability of sink connection p = 0.1.

Three different networks were considered in this experiment, each with 100 vertices and one sink vertex. The first graph consisted of two clusters, each with 50 vertices, connected with each other by a random edge and connected to the sink with probability p. In this case, the sizes and areas of avalanches (see Figures 5.40, 5.41, 5.42 and 5.43) were mostly clustered around 0 and 50, with few clustered around 100. This suggests that since the random grain of sand is dropped in one of the clusters, the transmission of information is highly effective inside that cluster, but it seldom reaches the other cluster. This phenomenon can be seen in the other two networks considered, one with five clusters with 20 vertices each, and one with two clusters of 30 and respectively 70 vertices. The distributions of sizes and areas for these networks can be seen in Figures 5.46, 5.47, 5.48 and 5.49 (for the first network) and Figures 5.52, 5.53, 5.54 and 5.55 (for the second network).

We can also see that the lifetimes of the avalanches get smaller as the probability of sink connection (p) increases. This makes sense since the more edges are connected to the sink, the more grains of sand are lost and so the less time needed for each vertex to become stable. This phenomenon was observed for all three different networks (see Figures 5.44, 5.45, 5.50, 5.51, 5.56 and 5.57).



Figure 5.40: The distribution of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.41: The histograms of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.42: The distribution of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.43: The histograms of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.44: The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.45: The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a clustered graph with two clusters with 50 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.46: The distribution of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.47: The histograms of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.48: The distribution of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.49: The histograms of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.50: The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.51: The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a clustered graph with five clusters with 20 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.52: The distribution of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with one cluster of 30 vertices and another of 70 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).


Figure 5.53: The histograms of avalanche sizes on a clustered graph with one cluster of 30 vertices and another of 70 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.54: The distribution of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with one cluster of 30 vertices and another of 70 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.55: The histograms of avalanche areas on a clustered graph with one cluster of 30 vertices and another of 70 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.56: The distribution of avalanche lifetimes on a clustered graph with one cluster of 30 vertices and another of 70 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).



Figure 5.57: The histograms of avalanche lifetimes on a clustered graph with one cluster of 30 vertices and another of 70 vertices for different values of p (probability of sink connection).

#### 5.7 Random Regular Network

Among the networks considered in this thesis, only the grid and the circular ones were found to exhibit a power-law behavior. The fact that these networks characterized by power-laws consist of vertices with the same degree might suggest that we can only have power laws in the case of similar traders. Therefore, we want to test the emergence of a power-law behavior for the avalanches of a graph which has all the vertices with the same degree, including the sink vertex.<sup>8</sup> We consider a random regular network consisting of an undirected graph with 101 vertices with each vertex of degree d. In order to construct such a network, the product n \* d is required to be even since each edge contains two vertices. Moreover, the total number of vertices must be at least d + 1. A random regular network of degree 4 on 6 vertices with the sink denoted as vertex 0 is shown in Figure 5.58.



Figure 5.58: The random regular graph of degree 4 on 6 vertices with the sink denoted as vertex 0.

We consider the 4-regular, the 10-regular and the 50-regular graphs and we plot the size, area and lifetime of each avalanche against the number of avalanches of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Recall from Definition 4.3.5 that this is called a regular graph.

that particular strength on a log-log scale. We can see from Figure 5.59 that the areas and avalanches for the regular graph get smaller as the degree of the graph gets bigger. Moreover, there are a lot fewer big avalanches for the 50-regular graph compared to the 4-regular graph. Also, the duration of the avalanches seems to follow the same pattern, since the avalanches get a lot smaller when the degree of the graph gets bigger. The number of avalanches seems to decrease as well for higher degrees. Therefore, it seems to be the case that having a larger number of neighbors leads to a slower transmission of information. We get this result because in this model the number of neighbors a vertex has is the same as the threshold of each cell and thus, we cannot distinguish very well the effect of having more neighbors from the one of having a higher threshold. We can also conclude that none of the measures of the avalanche sizes seems to follow a power-law distribution. This is probably the case since there are too few connections to the sink, so that we actually get a lot more big avalanches than predicted by a power-law behavior.



Figure 5.59: The distribution of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on random regular graph of degrees 4, 10 and 50 on a log-log scale.

#### 5.7.1 How is the 4-regular Graph Different from a Grid Graph?

Since the 4-regular graph is somewhat similar to the grid graph, we compare the measures of the avalanche strength in these two graphs. Figure 5.60 shows the plots of the distribution of avalanche strengths on a log-log scale. We can see that the sizes and areas of small avalanches do not differ a lot between the two graphs. Nevertheless, we have a lot more big avalanches in the 4-regular network than in the grid network. Because we have a lot more vertices connected to the sink in the grid graph than in the 4-regular graph (36 compared to 4), we also get smaller sizes and areas of avalanches. Moreover, the duration of the avalanches in the regular graph is found to be longer than for the other graph considered.



Figure 5.60: The distribution of avalanche strength (size, area, lifetime) on 4-random regular graph compares to the one for a grid graph on a log-log scale.

## Conclusion

#### Discussion of the Model

This model makes some assumptions that are hard to observe in reality:

- In the model, passing along information makes a trader less willing to sell. This assumption is not very intuitive and could only be explained by the high transaction costs that selling incurs.
- 2. The model does not track identical pieces of information. Information is usually a one-time deal, and thus, it should not matter how many times the information is transmitted, but rather how many people receive the piece of information. Thus, the areas of avalanches could matter more than the sizes.
- 3. The model does not account for the number of people knowing the piece of information at a given time (how many vertices previously fired). Thus, we need an index to measure the state of the economy at a given time, so that the traders could respond to it. This index should account for the fact that a signal received from a neighbor becomes less important as more people know that piece of information.
- 4. Real life information is not homogeneous as the grains of sand. This fact is somewhat taken into account by the weighted edges in the random network

considered, which could either measure the influence one trader has on another, or the importance of the piece of information shared.

- 5. The fact that each vertex's threshold is equal to its out-degree is not a very good assumption, since there might not be a direct connection between the time it takes a trader to share his information and the number of neighbors it has.
- 6. A vertex receives various grains of sand, but when it fires it only sends one to each neighbor. The question to be asked is what piece of information each neighbor receives and why each one of them receives only one piece. Assuming that all pieces of information are equally relevant is a solution, but it is hard to observe in practice.
- 7. In the model, transactions costs stay the same throughout the avalanches, which is an oversimplification of reality.

#### Main Results and Implications

The purpose of this thesis is to explain deviations from the standard finance theory and to assess the possibility of a power-law behavior in the stock market. Before testing the existence of power-laws, this thesis considered the effect of herding behavior and information transmission on the volatility of stock market returns. Since herding behavior and implicitly information transmission appeared to be characterised by a power-law behavior, we consider a model of information transmission and we test whether or not the dynamics of information predicted by this model exhibit power-laws. The model considered was similar to the one in Lee (1998) with the only difference that the experiments were performed using the sandpile model.

The main results of the experiments done in Chapter 5 imply the fact that the type of network of traders is very important for the flow of information. The results shown in Chapter 5 suggest that:

- 1. The  $n \times n$  and the circular networks of traders are the only one from the networks studied that exhibit power law behavior for the strength of avalanches.
- 2. The dynamics of the circular network do not depend too much on whether the graph is directed or not and they mainly depend on the degree of connectivity of each vertex to the sink.
- 3. The duration of avalanches in the random graph network are highly dependent on the degree of connectivity of each vertex to the sink and also the probability that two edges are connected.
- 4. No significant results were obtained for the network with a special node because the activity of the special node in relation to the other nodes was not explicitly isolated.
- 5. The network composed of various clusters showed more activity in the clusters since they were connected to each other through only one random edge so that the signal rarely traveled form one cluster to the other.
- 6. The avalanches in the random regular network get smaller and fewer as the degree gets bigger. This is the case because once the degree gets bigger, each vertex has also a bigger threshold.
- 7. Overall, the connectivity to the sink was found to be very influential for the duration of avalanches, with higher connectivity resulting in smaller avalanches.

The implications of these results for the real-world are important. First, if the network of traders were an  $n \times n$  grid with undirected edges or a circular network (directed or undirected) with degree of connectivity to the sink of 1, then the distribution of the number of traders sharing information, the number of times information is

shared and the duration of an informational cascade would follow a power-law behavior. Moroever, if the network of traders were a circular graph and each trader would only be connected to two other traders, then information stickiness corresponding to the unwillingness of each person to share his private information would matter a lot. Furthermore, if the network of traders would be represented by a random graph with random connections among traders, then the duration of each informational cascade will depend on both the degree of connectivity with other traders and also the degree of information stickiness.

Since we are inclined to think that the network of traders consists of clusters, the results of the last experiment are really important because they suggest that activity (i.e. transmission of information) within one cluster rarely affects the activities in the clusters when there is only one link between the clusters. We could also infer that adding more links between clusters would increase the probability that the information is transmitted from one cluster to another. Moreover, the random regular networks suggest that the transmission of information gets faster in the case of smaller transaction costs for each trader and less neighbors. Therefore, the transaction costs seem to be more important for sharing information that the number of neighbors each trader.

#### **Directions for Future Research**

There are many ways this information transmission model could be improved:

- First of all, the fact that the power-law distribution is a straight line on a loglog plot does not imply that the reverse is true. Actually, there might be other distributions that give a straight line on a log-log plot.
- 2. There are many different types of networks that could be considered. Dynamic networks (the ones in which the connections change over time) could also be

considered since they model the real-world in a better way. One important dynamic model is the preferential attachment in which new nodes are added and they form connections to the most "popular" vertices (i.e. the ones with a higher degree of connectivity to other vertices).

- 3. Another possibility is to extend the model by adding another type of sand so that the traders could also have the option of buying a stock.
- 4. The idea behind the transmission of information in this model is to have a first mover who sets the behavior of others. The fact that a network can have more than one first mover (more than one grain of sand being dropped at random at the same time or at different times) should be investigated further in an experiment.
- 5. A general concern about the model considered is that graphical analysis could be deceiving. Therefore, a deeper investigation is necessary in order to check the results.
- 6. Last but not least, the problems of the applicability of the model in reality discussed in the previous section should be solved.

# Appendix A

# Important Definitions and Theorems

**Definition A.0.1.** The cumulative distribution function (c.d.f.) of the random variable X (also called the distribution function F) is the probability that the random variable X takes on a value that is less than or equal to b. It is defined for all real numbers x, with  $-\infty < x < \infty$  as:

 $F(x) = P[X \le x]$ 

**Remark A.0.2.** The cumulative distribution function F exhibits the following properties:

- 1. If a < b, then  $F(a) \leq F(b)$ .
- 2.  $\lim_{b \to \infty} F(b) = 1.$
- 3.  $\lim_{b \to -\infty} F(b) = 0.$
- 4.  $P[a < X \le b] = F(b) F(a)$  for all a < b.

Definition A.0.3. The complementary cumulative distribution function (c.c.d.f.) is

defined as:

P[X > x] = 1 - F(x), where F is the cumulative distribution function.

**Definition A.0.4.** A random variable is said to be discrete if it can take on at most a countable number of possible values. Any discrete random variable X is characterized by a probability mass function:

$$P(a) = P[X = a].$$

**Definition A.0.5.** A random variable X is said to be a continuous random variable if there exists a non-negative function f, defined for all real  $x \in (-\infty, \infty)$ , such that for any set B of real numbers:

$$P[X \in B] = \int_B f(x) \, dx$$

The function f is called the probability density function of the random variable X.

**Remark A.0.6.** The function f defined above must satisfy

$$P[X \in (-\infty, \infty)] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x) \, dx = 1$$

**Definition A.0.7.** The expected value (also called the mean of X) of a discrete random variable X with probability mass function p(x) is given by the following formula:

$$E[X] = \sum_{x} x P[X = x].$$

The expected value of a continuous random variable X with probability density function f(x) is given by the following formula:

$$E[X] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x f(x) \, dx.$$

**Definition A.0.8.** The variance of a random variable X is given by the formula:

$$Var(X) = \sigma^2 = E[(X - \mu])^2].$$

The square root of the variance is called the standard deviation of X.

**Definition A.0.9.** The covariance between two random variables X and Y is defined by the following formula:

$$Cov(X, Y) = E[(X - E[X]](Y - E[Y])].$$

**Definition A.0.10.** The correlation of two random variables X and Y is defined as:

$$\rho(X,Y) = \frac{Cov(X,Y)}{\sqrt{Var(X)Var(Y)}}, \text{ with } Var(X), Var(Y) > 0.$$

**Definition A.0.11.** A random variable X is called a normal random variable or simply normally distributed with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$  if its density is given by the following formula:

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} e^{-(x-\mu)^2/2\sigma^2} - \infty < x < \infty$$

**Definition A.0.12.** Two random variables X and Y are said to be independent if for any two sets of real numbers A and B, we have:

$$P[X \in A, Y \in B] = P[X \in A]P[Y \in B].$$

**Definition A.0.13.** Two random variables X and Y are said to be independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) if they have the same distribution function and are independent.

**Definition A.0.14.** If a random variable X is normally distributed with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$ , then  $Z = (X - \mu)/\sigma$  is normally distributed with mean 0 and variance 1 and it is said to have the standard normal distribution.

#### Theorem A.0.15. The Central Limit Theorem

Let  $X_1, X_2, \ldots$  be a sequence of independent and identically distributed random variables each having mean  $\mu$  and variance sigma<sup>2</sup>. Then the distribution of

 $\frac{X_1 + \dots + X_n - n\mu}{\sigma\sqrt{n}}$ 

converges to the standard normal distribution as n approaches  $\infty$ .

**Definition A.0.16.** The skewness of the probability distribution of a random variable X is given by the following formula:

$$\frac{E[(X-E[X])^3]}{\sigma^3}$$

**Definition A.0.17.** The kurtosis of the probability distribution of a random variable X is given by the following formula:

$$\frac{E[(X-E[X])^4}{\sigma^4}$$

**Definition A.0.18.** Let  $X_1, \ldots, X_n$  be a sequence of i.i.d. random variables such that  $X_i$  takes the values -1 and +1 only, with  $P[X_i = +1] = P[X_i = -1] = 1/2$ . Then the sequence

$$S_n = \sum_{i=1}^n X_i$$
, with  $S_0 = 0$  is called a random walk

## Bibliography

- Bak, P., M. Paczuski, and M. Shubik. "Price Variations in a Stock Market with Many Agents." Arxiv preprint cond-mat/9609144.
- Bak, Per. How Nature Works: the Science of Self-organized Criticality. New York, NY: Copernicus Press, 1996.
- Bak, Per, Chao Tang, and Kurt Wiesenfeld. "Self-organized Criticality: An Explanation of the 1/f Noise." *Physical Review Letters* 59, 4: (1987) 381–384.
- Banerjee, A.V. "A Simple Model of Herd Behavior." Quarterly Journal of Economics 107, 3: (1992) 797–817.
- Barari, Mahua, and Saibal Mitra. "Power Law versus Exponential Law in Characterizing Stock Market Returns." Atlantic Economic Journal 36: (2008) 377–379.
- Bartozzi, M., D.H. Leinweber, and A.W. Thomas. "Self-organized Criticality and Stock Market Dynamics: An Empirical Study." *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics* and its Applications 350(2-4): (2005) 451–465.
- ———. "Scale-free Avalanche Dynamics in the Stock Market." *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications* 370, Issue 1: (2006) 132–139.
- Bikhchandani, S., D. Hirshleifer, and I. Welch. "A Theory of Fads, Fashion, Custom, and Cultural Change as Informational Cascades." *Journal of Political Economy* 100, 5: (1992) 992.

- Carlson, J.M., and G.H. Swindle. "Self-organized Criticality: Sandpiles, Singularities, and Scaling." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 92, 15: (1995) 6712–6719.
- Chatterjee, A., and B.K. Chakrabarti. *Econophysics of Stock and other Markets*. Springer, Milan, 2006.
- Cont, R. "Empirical Properties of Asset Returns: Stylized Facts and Statistical Issues." Quantitative Finance 1(2): (2001) 223–236.
- Cont, Rama, and Jean-Philipe Bouchaud. "Herd Behavior and Aggregate Fluctuations in Financial Markets." *Macroeconomic Dynamics* 4: (2000) 170–196.
- Coronel-Brizio, H. F., and A. R. Hernandez-Montoya. "Asymptotic Behavior of the Daily Increment Distribution of the IPC, the Mexican Stock Market Index." *Revista mexicana de fisica* 51(1): (2005) 27–31.
- Davis, M., and A. Etheridge. "Louis Bachelier's Theory of Speculation: The Origins of Modern Finance." Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 45: (2008) 657–660.
- Dhar, Deepak. "Self-organized Critical State of Sandpile Automaton Models." *Physical Review Letters* 64, 14: (1990) 1613–1616.
- Diestel, R. Graph Theory. Springer, 2005.
- Dragulescu, A. A., and V. M. Yakovenko. "Probability Distribution of Returns in the Heston Model with Stochastic Volatility." *Quantitative Finance* 2(6): (2002) 443–453.
- Fama, Eugene F. "The Behavior of Stock Market Prices." The Journal of Business 38(1): (1965) 34–105.
  - ———. "Efficient Capital Markets: A Review of Theory and Empirical Work." Journal of Finance 25(2): (1970) 383–417.

- Gabaix, X., P. Gopikrishnan, V. Plerou, and H.E. Stanley. "Institutional Investors and Stock Market Volatility." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 121, 2: (2006) 461–504.
- Gabaix, Xavier, Parameswaran Gopikrishnan, Vasiliki Plerou, and H. Eugene Stanley.
  "A Theory of Power-law Distributions in Financial Market Fluctuations." *Nature* 423: (2003) 267–270.
- Gleria, Iram, and Raul Matsushita and. "Scaling Power Laws in the Sao Paulo Stock Exchange." *Economics Bulletin* 7(3): (2002) 1–12.
- Goldstein, M. L., S.A. Morris, and G. G. Yen. "Problems with Fitting to the Powerlaw Distribution." *The European Physical Journal B* 41: (2004) 255–258.
- Gopikrishnan, P., V. Plerou, X. Gabaix, and H.E. Stanley. "Statistical Properties of Share Volume Traded in Financial Markets." *Physical Review E* 62, 4: (2000) 4493–4496.
- Gopikrishnan, Parameswaran, Martin Meyer, Luis A. Nunes Amaral, and H. Eugene Stanley. "Inverse Cubic Law for the Probability Distribution of Stock Price Variations." The European Physical Journal B 3: (1998) 139.
- Gu, Gao-Feng, Wei Chen, and Wei-Xing Zhou. "Empirical Distributions of Chinese Stock Returns at Different Microscopic Timescales." *Physica A* 387: (2008) 495– 502.
- Guillaume, Dominique, Michel Dacorogna, Rakhal Dave, Ulrich Muller, Richard Olsen, and Olivier Pictet. "From the Bird's Eye to the Microscope: A Survey of New Stylized Facts of the Intra-daily Foreign Exchange Markets." *Finance and Stochastics* 1(2): (1997) 1432–1122.

- Jensen, Henrik Jeldtoft. Self-organized Criticality. Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- Jensen, M. H., A. Johansen, F. Petroni, and I. Simonsen. "Inverse Statistics in the Foreign Exchange Market." *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications* 340: (2004) 678.
- Johnson, Neil F., Paul Jeffries, and Pak Ming Hui. Financial Market Complexity. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2003.
- Kaizoji, Taisei. "Comparison of Volatility Distributions in the Periods of Booms and Stagnations: an Empirical Study on Stock Prices.", 2005. Physics/0506114.
- Kaizoji, Taisei, and Michiyo Kaizoji. "Exponential Laws of a Stock Price Index and a Stochastic Model." Advances in Complex Systems 6(3): (2003) 1–10.
- Kearns, Philip, and Adrian Pagan. "Estimating the Density Tail Index for Financial Time Series." The Review of Economics and Statistics 79(2): (1997) 171–175.
- Kim, Kyungsik, S. M. Yoon, C. Christopher Lee, and K. H. Chang. "Zipf's Law Distributions for Korean Financial Markets." *Journal of the Korean Physical Society* 47: (2005) 171–173.
- Krishnamoorthy, K. Handbook of Statistical Distributions with Applications. Taylor & Francis, Inc., 2006.
- Krugman, Paul. The Self-organizing Economy. Cambridge, Mass., USA : Blackwell Publishers, 1996.
- Laherrre, J., and D. Sornette. "Streched Exponential Distributions in Nature and Economy: "Fat Tails" with Characteristic Scales." *The European Physical Journal* B 2: (1998) 525–539.

- Lee, In Ho. "Market Crashes and Informational Avalanches." Review of Economic Studies 741–759.
- Liu, Yanhui, Parameswaran Gopikrishnan, Pierre Cizeau, Martin Meyer, Chung-Kang Peng, and H. Eugene Stanley. "Statistical Proprieties of the Volatility of Price Fluctuations." *Physical Review E* 60(2): (1999) 1390–1400.
- Longin, F. M. "The Asymptotic Distribution of Extreme Stock Market Returns." Journal of Business 69(3): (1996) 383–408.
- Lux, Thomas. "Financial Power Laws: Empirical Evidence, Models, and Mechanism." Economics working papers 12.
- MacKinlay, A. Craig, John Y. Campbell, and Andrew W. Lo. The Econometrics of Financial Markets. Princeton University Press, 1997, 3rd edition.
- Malevergne, Y., V. Pisarenko, and D. Sornette. "Empirical Distributions of Log-Returns: between the Stretched Exponential and the Power Law?" Quantitative Finance 5, 4: (2005) 379–401.
- Malkiel, Burton G. "Is the Stock Market Efficient?" Science 243, 4896: (1989) 1313 1318.
- Mandelbrot, Benoit. "The Variation of Certain Speculative Prices." Journal of Business 36(4): (1963) 394–411.
- Mandelbrot, Benoit, and Richard L. Hudson. The (Mis)behavior of Markets. Basic Books, 2004.
- Mantegna, Rosario N., and H. Eugene Stanley. "Scaling Behavior in the Dynamics of an Economic Index." *Nature* 376, 6535: (1995) 46–49.

———. An Introduction to Econophysics: Correlations and Complexity in Finance. Cambridge Univerity Press, Cambridge, UK, 2000.

- Matia, K., M. Pal, H. Salunkay, and H. E. Stanley. "Scale-dependent Price Fluctuations for the Indian Stock Markets." *Europhysics Letters* 66(6): (2004) 909–914.
- Mauboussin, Michael J. "Revising Market Efficiency: the Stock Market as a Complex Adaptive System." *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance* 14(4): (2002) 8–16.
- Mitzenmacher, Michael. "A Brief History of Generative Models for Power Law and Lognormal Distributions." *Internet Mathematics* 1(2): (2004) 226–251.
- Nirei, Makoto. "Self-Organized Criticality in a Herd Behavior Model of Financial Markets." Journal of Economic Interaction and Coordination 3: (2008) 89–97.
- Oh, G., C.-J. Um, and S. Kim. "Statistical Properties of the Returns of Stock Prices of International Markets.", 2006. Physics/0601126.
- Pagan, Adrian. "The Econometrics of Financial Markets." Journal of Empirical Finance 3(1): (1996) 15–102.
- Pan, Raj Kumar, and Sitabhra Sinha. "Inverse-cubic Law of Index Fluctuation Distribution in Indian Markets." *Physica A* 387: (2008) 2055–2065.
- Parker, W. D., and R.R. R.R. Prechter Jr. "Herding: An Interdisciplinary Integrative Review From a Socionomic Perspective." In Advances in Cognitive Economics: Proceedings of the International Conference on Cognitive Economics, Sofia, August. 2005, 5–8.
- Paulos, John Allen. A Mathematician Plays the Stock Market. New York : Basic Books, 2003.
- Pisarenko, V., and D. Sornette. "New Statistic for Financial Return Distributions: Power-law or Exponential?" *Physics A* 366: (2006) 387–400.

- Plerou, Vasiliki, Parameswaran Gopikrishnan, Luis A. Nunes Amaral, Martin Meyer, and H. Eugene Stanley. "Scaling of the Distribution of Price Fluctuations of Individual Companies." *Physics Review E* 60(6): (1999) 6519–6529.
- Ross, Sheldon. A First Course in Probability. Prentice Hall, 1997, 5th edition.
- Scheinkman, Jose A, and Michael Woodford. "Self-organized Criticality and Economic Fluctuations." American Economic Review 84, 2: (1994) 417–21.
- Shiller, R.J. Irrational Exuberance. Currency Doubleday, 2006.
- Silva, A. Christian, Richard E. Prange, and Victor M. Yakovenko. "Exponential Distribution of Financial Returns at Mesoscopic Time Lags: a New Stylized Fact." *Physica A* 344: (2004) 227–235.
- Sornette, Didier. Why Stock Markets Crash: Critical Events in Complex Financial Systems. Princeton University Press, 2003.
- Srinivasa, Srinath. The Power Law of Information. Sage, 2006.
- Stanley, H. E., L. A. N. Amaral, S. V. Buldyrev, P. Gopikrishnan, V. Plerou, and M. A. Salinger. "Self-organized Complexity in Economics and Finance." *Proceed*ings of the National Academy of Sciences 99(1): (2002) 2561–2565.
- Stauffer, D., and D. Sornette. "Self-organized Percolation Model for Stock Market Fluctuations." Arxiv preprint cond-mat/9906434.
- Wang, B. H., and P. M. Hui. "The Distribution and Scaling of Fluctuations for Hang Seng Index in Hong Kong Stock Market." *European Physical Journal B* 20(4): (2001) 573–579.
- Xiao-Feng, Cao, Deng Zong-Wei, and Yang Chun-Bin. "On Origin of Power-law Distributions in Self-organized Criticality from Random Walk Treatment." Communications in Theoretical Physics 49: (2008) 249–251.